FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/2/2018 2:32 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/2/2018
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals Case No. 75946-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

KRISTIN BAIN,

Appellant,

v.

METROPOLITAN MORTGAGE GROUP, INC.; INDYMAC BANK, FSB; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS; REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES; LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES; FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORP.; FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE; and Doe Defendants 1 through 20, inclusive,

Respondents.

APPLELLANT'S AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

See Attachment A.

Factual History

Ms. Bain is a young woman with severe ADD, including difficulty

understanding documents, such as those associated with a home purchase and mortgage loan. Ms. Bain lived independently and worked, but she also received significant assistance from her parents and access to trust funds for specific purposes. CP 37-38; 39-41; 44-46; 47-48. Ms. Bain pursued claims in this case related to the loan origination, which were settled. *Id.* The original lender, IndyMac Bank, failed before Ms. Bain could meaningfully pursue her claims regarding loan origination, which meant she had a mortgage payment greatly in excess of what she could afford. *Id.*

Ms. Bain defaulted on the loan in May 2008. She then received a Notice of Default ("NOD") from Regional Trustee Services ("RTS"), the foreclosing trustee (signed on **August 26, 2008**), on or about **August 28, 2008** (CP 277-281) and then a Notice of Trustee's Sale ("NOTS") dated **September 25, 2008**, which scheduled the auction of her home on December 26, 2008. CP 283-286. The NOTS was signed **exactly** 30 days after the NOD was signed, the exact amount of time permitted by the DTA. RCW 61.24.040(8). However, because the NOD was not posted until two days after execution, the NOTS should not have been issued when it was. *Id.* The NOTS read that RTS was foreclosing the Deed of Trust on behalf of "beneficiary" MERS, which was false. CP 1069-1081.

King County records include an Assignment of Deed of Trust signed on September 3, 2008 by Bethany Hood, "Vice President" of

MERS "as nominee for its successors and assigns", purporting to have MERS assign an interest in Ms. Bain's Deed of Trust to IndyMac Federal Bank, FSB, the successor entity to IndyMac Bank after its failure.² CP 32-33. The Assignment was recorded on **September 9, 2008**. On **August 26, 2008**, Christina Allen, "AVP" of IndyMac Federal Bank, FSB, signed an Appointment of Successor Trustee which purported to appointment RTS as the trustee. CP 35-36.³ The Appointment was recorded on **September 9, 2008**, immediately **after** the Assignment.⁴ *Id*. LPS employee Christina Allen's signature indicated that she was signing the Appointment **before** IndyMac Federal allegedly acquired its interest in Ms. Bain's Deed of Trust from MERS. This is an "interest" that MERS never possessed. *Id*.

Ms. Hood and Ms. Allen signed the documents at the behest of RTS, the entity who wanted to become the trustee, even though it had a concurrent duty to Ms. Bain and the "beneficiary". No one from the actual "beneficiary" communicated with anyone at LPS or MERS. *Id.* MERS' business model included as a primary pursuit allowing entities such as LPS and IndyMac to execute documents to pursue non-judicial

2

² Evidence obtained confirmed that Ms. Hood and Ms. Allen were LPS employees.

³ Notation next to the signature, in different handwriting, reads it is "effective" "9/3/08".

⁴ An Appointment is not effective until recording. RCW 61.24.010(2).

⁵ Ms. Bain ONLY learned in the litigation that the Deutsche Bank securitized trust acquired the loan in 2007. CP 3386-3391; 3490-3499; 3501-3512 and 3514-3551.

⁶ The DTA was amended in 2009 to clarify the nature of the trustee's duties. RCW 61.24.010(4); however, in 2008, the trustee's quasi-fiduciary duty to both the borrower and the grantor was best described in *Cox v. Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383 (1985).

foreclosures in Washington and elsewhere, even though it never had any financial relationship to Ms. Bain's loan or any others. CP 387-400, 421-429, 455-464, 526-536. During litigation below and at the Supreme Court, MERS maintained that it was authorized to engage in these activities because of the language in the Deed of Trust. CP 52-79.

The foreclosure process began when RTS received an electronic referral through the LPS computer system from a third party, FIS, on **August 22, 2008**. CP 615. It instructed to foreclose in the name of IndyMac Federal Bank, even though the "investor" is identified as "Deutsche Bank". *Id.* RTS then set about drafting the documents necessary to foreclose, and it created the Assignment and Appointment of Successor Trustee, which were sent to LPS for signing, including signature on behalf of MERS. CP 1530-1535; 1631-1634; 1698-1722. The documents were sent on **August 26, 2008**, and the signatures were returned minutes later, confirming MERS' participation in facilitating the expeditious processing of the foreclosure. CP 1698-1722.

When Ms. Bain was able to obtain testimony from the LPS robosigners, Ms. Hood admitted that she signed the Assignment prepared by others and she had no knowledge of the veracity of its contents, as part of her job of signing a stack of 25 to 75 documents every day. CP 1745-1752. Ms. Hood testified that documents, including the Assignment in this case,

are simply brought over to her and she makes sure that the identifying numbers match up, and then signs. She does not even know on whose behalf she is signing. *Id.* As a "signing officer" for MERS, she was not taking instruction or direction from anyone. *Id.*

This is consistent with MERS' deposition testimony about its business practices. CP 365-586. Its business model was significantly focused on approving the authorization of signers on behalf of MERS to be appointed by lenders and servicers and without any oversight of their actions. CP 620-621. Mr. Blake, MERS' deponent, admitted that Ms. Hood did not work at its offices, he did not know if MERS had ever directly communicated with her and in fact, he then tried to disavow the relevance of her testimony because it was not "on behalf of MERS". CP 1564-1565; 1570-1577; 1580-1584. This is in spite of the fact that MERS authorized Ms. Hood and others to sign any documents on its behalf that were placed in front of her.

While there is no legal requirement in Washington for an Assignment in order to foreclose, it was used in this case to facilitate and speed up Ms. Bain's non-judicial foreclosure to allow the "beneficiary" to avoid signing documents to comply with DTA requirements. RCW

61.24.005(2).⁷ CP 1745-1752. The Assignment here was used to give the false impression in King County records and to Ms. Bain that IndyMac Federal Bank, FSB had the legal authority to foreclose on Ms. Bain's residence, even though it did not have such authority. *Id*.

The NOD issued by RTS reads that the foreclosure was being pursued by MERS as the "beneficiary", which was facilitated by MERS' business model. CP 277-281. RCW 61.24.005(2). The NOD also reads: "The beneficial interest under said Deed of Trust and the obligations secured thereby are presently held by or **will be assigned to** INDYMAC FEDERAL BANK, FSB." *Id.* (emphasis added). This information was not true, as Ms. Bain discovered later in the litigation, because her loan had been sold in 2007 to the Deutsche Bank Trust. The NOTS issued read that the property was going to be sold at auction by the "Beneficiary", IndyMac Federal Bank, FSB, because the interest had been assigned by MERS on September 3, 2008. CP 283-286.

When Ms. Bain filed her case originally, she did not know who held her Promissory Note nor who had the right to enforce the terms of her Note and Deed of Trust to foreclose non-judicially. The Deutsche Bank Trust asserting it held her Note was first identified on February 17, 2011

⁷ During MERS' deposition, it refused to provide testimony about Ms. Hood and/or Ms. Allen's authority to sign documents on its behalf, even though those topics were noted in the deposition notice and no protective order was ever sought or entered.

in a Reply to Response to Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 3386-3391; 3490-3499; CP 3501-3512 and 3514-3551. After seeing an attorney, Ms. Bain became aware MERS was not the beneficiary because of information possessed by her attorney, but she did not know the identity of the noteholder because of misleading information in the foreclosure documents. CP 1745-1752. As evidenced by numerous amendments to Ms. Bain's complaint because of false representations about noteholder status, she did not get an answer until well into the litigation. CP 2219-2220; 2222-2226; 2991-3001; 3006-3018.

Once the case was ordered back to state court (CP 3703-3705), Ms. Bain took the deposition of the MERS representative, who admitted that neither he nor anyone else at MERS had knowledge about the location and possession of Ms. Bain's Note. CP 1564-1565; 1570-1577; 1580-1584. When MERS filed its summary judgment motion, it created an entirely new narrative about its alleged business model following the Supreme Court's ruling. MERS argued that it was acting as an "agent" for the "principal", either IndyMac and/or the Deutsche Bank Trust, contending that the "evidence" for such actions was contained in the Pooling and Servicing Agreement as between IndyMac Bank (the prior entity) and the Deutsche Bank Trust. CP 52-79; 82-586. While the PSA contained language allowing IndyMac Bank (the prior entity) to act as for the

Deutsche Bank Trust (CP 59), it did **not** appoint IndyMac or anyone else as an "agent" (as defined by this Court in the *Bain* decision) for the Trust. CP 60-62. Further, even if IndyMac **could** have acted as an "agent" for the Trust, that entity had ceased to exist as of August 2008, when the actions herein occurred, and even more importantly, it was LPS employees Hood and Allen who signed the foreclosure documents on behalf of MERS and IndyMac Federal Savings Bank, FSB, without ever receiving instruction from either of those entities to perform those actions. MERS also asked the trial court to rely upon a Limited Power of Attorney signed by the Deutsche Bank Trust to IndyMac Bank (prior entity), even though there was no testimony from Deutsche Bank or anyone else that the Power of Attorney was provided to the **new** IndyMac entity and/or that it allowed a third party not mentioned in the POA, MERS, the authority to act for the Deutsche Bank Trust as an agent. CP 59-61; 344-360. This particularly matters since the loan servicer who made the referral to foreclosure to RTS was actually OneWest – not the IndyMac entities. CP 1698-1722.

MERS argued (as did RTS) that there was "constructive" possession of the Note by someone other than Deutsche. These arguments were rejected by the trial court as a basis for summary judgment, which is consistent with the requirements of the DTA and the findings by this Court in this case. *Bain v. Metro. Mrtg. Group, Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 97-100, 285

P.3d 34 (2012). MERS had no communication with anyone about this loan and it could not even identify the "principal" on whose behalf it was allegedly acting as an agent. Remember – the MERS "agent" acting for an alleged "principal" is an employee of another company, LPS, with whom it has never once communicated or even knows of her existence except that her name is on a list provided to it by her employer. CP 1562-1563; 1564-1565; 1570-1577. As Mr. Blake testified at deposition on behalf of MERS, its only involvement in the foreclosure process is to maintain computerized records and serve to be the publicly recorded name in county records as the "owner" of loans. *Id.* He admitted that MERS has no actual information about Ms. Hood. CP 1580-1584.

While Ms. Bain did default on the loan, the non-judicial foreclosure process was sped along and facilitated by the improper and illegal actions of MERS and LPS, at the behest of RTS, the defunct foreclosing trustee, and everything done by these defendants was done for the benefit of themselves and the beneficiary, Deutsche. But simply because she was delinquent in her loan payments, it was not an excuse for these Defendants' intentional disregard of DTA requirements. The DTA's procedural requirements contemplate and assume that the borrower is in default. It makes no sense to have requirements for the process if the Legislature intended that they be waived if a property owner is in default.

It would render the statutory requirements meaningless.

Ms. Bain knew that she had been lied to and deceived about her loan origination, and she knew that she was losing her home to foreclosure. She sought out legal assistance to preserve homeownership and she had to pay for some of the work involved in that process. CP 157-163, CP 241. The time between the default on her loan (May 2008) and the initiation of the foreclosure by the service of an NOD was less than four months (August 2008). Noteholders have the choice to utilize the non-judicial foreclosure process or to foreclose judicially in Washington. The loan servicer made a choice to use the non-judicial foreclosure process under the DTA and thus it, and those who help it enlisted (MERS and LPS) to speed it along, must comply with its requirements.

Ms. Bain testified about her injuries at deposition and the stress that she suffered as a result of the loan origination and foreclosure in a declaration. Her mother also described some of her struggles. CP 37-38; 39-41; 44-46; 47-48. Ms. Bain was required to take action swiftly to prevent the loss of her home to foreclosure because of the Defendants' expedited process. She defaulted on her loan in May 2008 and by August 28, 2008, she was being served with an NOD (signed on August 22, 2008 and served on August 26, 2008) and thirty (30) days later, she was served with an NOTS on or about September 25, 2008. The actions of these

defendants served their purpose – they were able to help facilitate the swiftness of this foreclosure and the hiding of the identity of the loan owner/beneficiary, the Deutsche Bank Trust. Contrary to the determination made by the trial court, MERS' unfair, deceptive and misleading acts violated the requirements of the DTA, which therefore constituted a Consumer Protection Act violation. RCW 19.86, *et seq.*

V. STANDARD ON REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing acceptance of review by the Supreme Court. Ms. Bain maintains that the Appellate Court's decision is conflict with this Court's decisions regarding the liability under the CPA for violations of the DTA.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Division I's Decision is not supported by Washington case law.

When rendering its decision affirming the trial court's Order, the Court of Appeals erroneously found that Ms. Bain did not prove any injury or damages caused by MERS. This case is appropriate for this Court to review because it sets the standards for how to measure injury and/or damages related to the wrongful initiation of a non-judicial foreclosure by an entity that had no relationship whatsoever to the promissory note in question. The Court of Appeals' opinion stands as an affirmation that so long as the parties who are unlawfully and improperly

manipulating the non-judicial foreclosure process do so behind the scenes, and irrespective of the falsehoods provided to a borrower which are prohibited by the DTA, may so act free from concerns about liability. This cannot be the standard in Washington if the Deed of Trust Act requirements are going to have any meaning at all.

1. Standard on Review at the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals engaged in an analysis under Civil Rule 56 as to whether the trial court properly granted summary judgment. The Court of Appeals reviewed the matter *de novo. Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County*, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008); *McNabb v. Dep't of Corrs.*, 163 Wn.2d 393, 397, 180 P.3d 1257 (2008); *Hill v. Cox*, 110 Wn.App. 394, 41 P.3d 495 (Div. III 2002), *review denied* 147 Wn.2d 1024, 60 P.3d 92; *Cano-Garcia v. King County*, 168 Wn.App. 223, 277 P.3d 34 (Div. II 2012), *review denied* 175 Wn.2d 1010, 287 P.3d 594. Ms. Bain maintains that the Court of Appeals erred when affirming its decision dismissing MERS from this case.

2. The Court of Appeals did not engage in the requisite analysis of the facts and issues and did not apply the law appropriately. There were genuine issues of material fact present before the trial court which precluded granting summary judgment.

At its heart, this case is about whether Washington courts are going to endorse non-judicial foreclosure business models which were created

expressly to evade and contravene the requirements of Washington's DTA. Without MERS' willingness to assist in violating the DTA's requirements, the attempted non-judicial foreclosure of Ms. Bain's home may not have occurred in 2008, and Ms. Bain would have had to obtain injunctive relief to prevent a foreclosure in December, 2008. It would have happened at some point, but if MERS had not facilitated the improper execution of foreclosure documents within minutes of their submission to robo-signers at LPS, she would not have had act when she did.

MERS just ignored requirements of Washington law to help speed up the foreclosure process but maintain there cannot be any liability for their unfair and deceptive actions. The "costs" of the wrongfully-initiated foreclosure sale were added to the balance owed on Ms. Bain's loan, but later those amounts were deleted through Deutsche's manipulations in the judicial foreclosure action later filed against Ms. Bain and her property. CP 299-336. Ms. Bain not knowing the identity of noteholder and loan owner negatively impacted her ability to bring claims relating to loan origination against Deutsche. CP 3642-3654.

1. Ms. Bain has met the standard laid out in the *Bain* case to prove a CPA claim against these Defendants.

This Court made clear that Ms. Bain can pursue her claims for CPA violations against MERS, consistent with the requirements of

Hangman Ridge Training Stables v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778 (1986). It requires a plaintiff to prove five elements: "(1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or commerce; (3) public interest impact; (4) injury to plaintiff in his or their business or property; (5) causation." Hangman Ridge at 780. In examining MERS' conduct in Bain, this Court reiterated that the proper standard for determining whether an act is deceptive for purposes of a CPA claim by quoting from several of its CPA cases, including State v. Kaiser, 161 Wn. App. 705, 719, 254 P.3d 850 (2011). This Court cited to State v. Kaiser as follows:

To prove that an act or practice is deceptive, neither intent nor actual deception is required. The question is whether the conduct has "the *capacity* to deceive a substantial portion of the public." *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 785. Even accurate information may be deceptive "if there is a representation, omission or practice that is likely to mislead." Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 50, 204 P.3d 885 (2009) (quoting Sw. Sunsites, Inc. v. Fed. Trade Comm'n, 785 F.2d 1431, 1435 (9th Cir. 1986)). Misrepresentation of the material terms of a transaction or the failure to disclose material terms violates the CPA. State v. Ralph Williams' N. W. ChryslerPlymouth, Inc., 87 Wn.2d, 298, 305-09, 553 P.2d 423 (1976). Whether particular actions are deceptive is a question of law that we review de novo. Leingang v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, 131 Wn.2d 133, 150, 930 P.2d 288 (1997).

Bain v. Metro. Mrtg. Group, Inc., supra, at 115, citing to State v. Kaiser, at 719 (emphasis added). This Court found that "characterizing MERS as the beneficiary has the capacity to deceive" and thus meets the first

element of a CPA claim. *Bain* at 115-116; *see also, Panag v. Farmers Ins.*Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 50, 204 P.3d 885 (2009). MERS helped create and cause to be recorded the Assignment which falsely asserted that it was the beneficiary and that it had the ability to assign any interest in Ms. Bain's loan to another entity. RCW 61.24.005(2). MERS also asserted that it could sign documents through LPS employees allegedly acting on behalf of IndyMac Federal Bank, FSB, even when it did not have any documents giving it authority to act as an "agent" for anyone else. Ms. Allen, LPS employee, signed the Appointment at the behest of RTS, who received a foreclosure referral from OneWest, the servicer. There is no evidence whatsoever of any "agency" relationship between MERS and anyone else or approving of it acting through another layer of "agents". See also, Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Services, Inc., 181 Wash.2d 412, 334 P.3d 529 (2014); Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014).

Ms. Bain is also able to prove the second element of a CPA claim under the *Hangman Ridge* standard – that the unfair or deceptive act occurred "in trade or commerce". *Hangman Ridge* at 780. This Court already found that MERS meets this requirement. Similarly, this Court found that MERS met the third *Hangman Ridge* element, the "public interest element", finding "considerable evidence that MERS is involved in an enormous number of mortgages in the country (and our state),

perhaps as many as half nationwide. . . . If in fact the language is unfair and deceptive, it would have a broad impact. This element is also presumptively met." *Bain* at 118-119 (citations omitted).

In evaluating whether the borrowers could articulate having any injury based upon MERS' conduct, this Court considered several scenarios that would meet the criteria, such as "misrepresentations, fraud or irregularities in the [foreclosure] proceedings", noting at footnote 18 that there was evidence presented of MERS being involved in issuing assignments that are incorrect or result in fraudulent transfers. Bain at 117-118. This Court found that that these could form the basis of meritorious claims against MERS. Here, Ms. Bain was treated unfairly and deceived when she had a foreclosure initiated by entities, including MERS, who did not comply with DTA requirements. Her foreclosure happened faster than it would otherwise have happened because of the robo-signing and expediting of the foreclosure process. She was also harmed by not knowing the identity of the beneficiary because she could not pursue claims against it relating to loan origination. CP 3642-3654. The CPA requires proof of damages or injury. Sato v. Century 21, 101 Wn.2d 599, 681 P.2d 242 (1984); St. Paul Ins. Co. v. Updegrave, 33 Wn.App. 653, 656 P.2d 1130 (1983); *Talmadge v. Aurora Chrysler* Plymouth, Inc., 25 Wn. App. 90, 605 P.2d 1275 (1979). Specific

monetary damages are not necessary, but still require an award of attorneys' fees. *Mason v. Mortgage America*, 114 Wn.2d 842, 792 P.2d 142 (1990). This Court noted in *Bain*,

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