FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/7/2018 11:40 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96032-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KRISTIN BAIN,

Petitioner,

v.

METROPOLITAN MORTGAGE GROUP, INC., et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER OF MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., TO KRISTIN BAIN'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Fred B. Burnside, WSBA No. 32491 Hugh R. McCullough, WSBA No. 41453 Frederick A. Haist, WSBA No. 48937

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 206-622-3150 (telephone) 206-757-7700 (fax)

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The opinion of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with another opinion of the Court of Appeals or any opinion of this Court.

This Court should deny Bain's petition for review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with existing law. Under Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4), this Court accepts a petition for review only if a decision conflicts with decisions of this Court or another decision by the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4; *Hoflin v. City of Ocean Shores*, 121 Wn.2d 113, 125 (1993). Bain seeks review because the Court of Appeals' opinion supposedly conflicts with existing law, and for no other reason. But Bain does not identify any decision from the Court or

denied review. Selkowitz v. Litton Loan Servicing LP, 191 Wn. App. 1025 (2015), review den. 185 Wn.2d 1037 (2016).

10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Similarly, after remand in the companion *Selkowitz* case (certified with *Bain* to this Court), the trial court granted summary judgment to MERS on the CPA claim, even though MERS appointed a successor trustee in that case, because MERS's appointment did not have the capacity to injure anyone: "[T]here really was no injury even alleged that flowed from anything that MERS did." *Selkowitz v. Litton Loan Servicing, LP*, 2014 WL 3953195, at \*2 (Wash. Super. Ct. 2014). The Court of Appeals affirmed, and this Court

the Court of Appeals that conflicts with the opinion here. She argues that the opinion was wrong, but that is not a "conflict" under Rule 13.4.

#### B. MERS did not cause Bain injury.

MERS did not cause injury to Bain's business or property because it did not foreclose or attempt to foreclose. Washington's Consumer Protection Act requires evidence that Bain suffered an injury that MERS caused. *See Guijose v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 144 Wn.2d 907, 917 (2001). Bain must show that but for MERS's actions, she would not have suffered an injury. *Indoor Billboard v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 59, 84 (2007). MERS was involved in this loan in only two ways: It was named as the beneficiary of the original Deed of Trust as a nominee for the lender and its successors and assigns; and MERS assigned any interest it had in the Deed of Trust to IndyMac. Bain admitted MERS did not foreclose and had nothing to do with her default. CP 233, 243. As both the trial court and the Court of Appeals determined, MERS's two actions could not, as a matter of law, have caused her injury.

# 1. MERS is not liable for being named as the beneficiary of Bain's Deed of Trust.

As this Court held, "the mere fact MERS is listed on the deed of trust as a beneficiary is not itself an actionable injury." *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d at 120; *see also Barkley v. Greenpoint Mortg. Funding, Inc.*, 190 Wn. App. 58, 69 (2015). That decision is consistent with years of precedents. By statute, regulation, and at common law, Washington has recognized that parties may use nominees as limited agents to hold title for them. *See, e.g.*,

RCW 11.98.070(8) (trustee may hold "property in the name of a nominee or nominees without mention of the trust relationship"); RCW 30A.08.170 (trust company or national bank may hold property through "nominee"); WAC 458-61A-214 ("A 'nominee' is a person who acts as an agent on behalf of another person in the purchase of real property."); *Carr v. Cohn*, 44 Wash. 586, 588 (1906) (nominee can bring quiet-title action on deed); *Andrews v. Kelleher*, 124 Wash. 517, 534-36 (1923) (agent could prosecute foreclosure); *Fid. Tr. Co. v. Wash. & Or. Corp.*, 217 F. 588, 596 (W.D. Wash. 1914) (same); *Anderson Buick Co. v. Cook*, 7 Wn.2d 632, 641-42 (1941) (mortgage is valid even if named mortgagee "held the bare legal title" for real party in interest). MERS is not liable simply because it was designated as the nominee beneficiary of the Deed of Trust, as Bain now suggests.

# 2. MERS is not liable for assigning its interest in the Deed of Trust to IndyMac.

MERS is not liable for assigning away any interest it had in the Deed of Trust before IndyMac commenced a non-judicial foreclosure by transmitting a notice of sale. There is no reason why MERS could not surrender any interest it had to IndyMac through an assignment. *See*, *e.g.*, *Jackson v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp.*, 186 Wn. App. 838, 842 (2015), *review den.* 184 Wn.2d 1011 (2015) (MERS "terminated its agency interest when it assigned its nominee interest in the deed of trust back to its principal, U.S. Bank as trustee"); *McAfee v. Select Portfolio Servicing*, *Inc.*, 193 Wn. App. 220, 230-33 (2016) (affirming dismissal of CPA claims

and holding that "McAfee raises no genuine issue of material fact supporting an allegation that MERS's assignment of the deed to Wells Fargo was unlawful or ineffective under the DTA."). MERS could not and did not injure Bain by executing the assignment, which is consistent with other decisions of the Court of Appeals in similar cases.

Thus, MERS's characterization in the assignment of deed of trust did not cause any injury that Bavand has identified. OneWest's authority to enforce the note and deed of trust arose by operation of law due to the bank's status as holder of the delinquent note. The purported assignment of a nonexistent beneficial interest in Bavand's deed of trust is immaterial. Therefore, Bavand fails to satisfy the "but for" test to show causation.

Bavand v. Onewest Bank, FSB, 196 Wn. App. 813, 843 (2016).

The assignment could not have caused injury to Bain. She never even saw the assignment executed by MERS before her 2012 deposition in this case—four years after she filed this action. CP 194-95. She admitted she did not see or rely on the assignment in taking any actions. CP 238. The assignment did not cause her to default. MERS signed the assignment after she defaulted, and she admitted her default was caused by a decrease in pay from voluntarily reducing her work hours. CP 32-33, 135, 137-41. Bain hired an attorney to negotiate a loan modification, not to investigate the beneficiary or MERS's involvement. CP 157-58.

# 3. MERS did not participate in the foreclosure.

MERS did not foreclose or attempt to foreclose on Bain's property.

IndyMac (not MERS) substituted RTS as the new trustee under the Deed

of Trust. CP 296-97. RTS (not MERS) issued a notice of default and a notice of sale. CP 160, 277-86. "This is not a case in which MERS itself is seeking to foreclose; a separate bank, OneWest, was assigned the deed of trust and is pursuing foreclosure." *Onewest Bank, FSB v. Erickson*, 185 Wn.2d 43, 73-74 (2016). MERS could not have caused Bain any injury in connection with the foreclosure. *Zalac v. CTX Mortg. Corp.*, 628 F. App'x 522, 522-23 (9th Cir. 2016) (unpublished) ("[A]lthough MERS was named as the initial beneficiary in the deed of trust, it had no connection to the foreclosure proceedings and can thus play no role in the causation of any of Zalac's purported damages.").

MERS did not sign any foreclosure documents. CP 35-36, 277-86. RTS or IndyMac signed them all. CP 160, 277-86, 296-97. Nor did the execution of the assignment cause the foreclosure. As Bain concedes (Bain Pet. at 6), IndyMac did not need the assignment from MERS because IndyMac was already an agent for the holder of the Note. CP 299-336, 338-43, 345-60; see also Corales v. Flagstar Bank, FSB, 822 F. Supp. 2d 1102, 1109 (W.D. Wash. 2011); Blair v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., 193 Wn. App. 18, 39 (2016), as am. on den. of recons. (May 12, 2016), review den. 186 Wn.2d 1019 (2016); McAfee, 193 Wn. App. at 231; Barkley, 190 Wn. App. at 69; Brown v. Wash. State Dep't of Commerce, 184 Wn.2d 509, 536 (2015); Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co. v. Slotke, 192 Wn. App. 166, 168 (2016), review den. 185 Wn.2d 1037 (2016); John Davis & Co. v. Cedar Glen No. Four, Inc., 75 Wn.2d 214, 222–23 (1969).

# 4. Bain knew she needed to pay and negotiate with IndyMac, not MERS.

MERS did not prevent Bain from negotiating with her lender. IndyMac was an agent and attorney-in-fact for Deutsche Bank, the holder of the Note. CP 208-09, 338-43, 345-60. Bain knew she needed to pay IndyMac to avoid defaulting on her loan. CP 134, 176-77, 179, 191-92, 194-95. She was not confused about whom to pay, who she should contact to negotiate the loan, and conceded MERS "had nothing to do with this." CP 147-48, 191-92. She admits that she never relied on any advice, statement, or correspondence from MERS because it never communicated with her. CP 95, 195, 196-97, 214-15, 232, 234-35, 239-40. Bain had the means to cure her loan default but chose not to do so in hopes of compelling her lender to offer her a lower payment. CP 155-57, 202. She knew she needed to negotiate with IndyMac. CP 134, 176-77, 179, 191-92, 194-95. And, in fact, she did—she contacted IndyMac once about her default and options before it issued a notice of default, but she voluntarily stopped any negotiation. CP 153:22-154:14.

# C. This Court should not accept review because Bain sustained no injury.

Bain suffered no injury. Washington's Consumer Protection Act (the "CPA") requires evidence that Bain sustained an injury to her business or property. *See Guijose*, 144 Wn.2d at 917. Bain's allegations of emotional distress do not qualify as injury under the CPA. Bain hired an attorney to seek a loan modification and to file this action based on the conduct of the foreclosing parties, not because of MERS, and the

foreclosure (which MERS did not participate in) complied with the deadlines in Washington's Deed of Trust Act.

### 1. Emotional distress is not an injury under the CPA.

Bain cannot recover for stress under the CPA because the CPA requires evidence of injury to business or property. "Personal injuries, as opposed to injuries to 'business or property,' are not compensable and do not satisfy the injury requirement. Thus, damages for mental distress, embarrassment, and inconvenience are not recoverable under the CPA." *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 57 (2009). *Lyons* didn't change that rule. *See Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 181 Wn.2d 775, 786 n.4 (2014) ("emotional distress, embarrassment, and inconvenience are excluded" from injury under the CPA). Bain alleges she suffered stress and mental anguish (Bain Pet. at 11), but those are not injuries to business and property, and they arise from her default, not anything MERS did.

# 2. Bain cannot recover fees and costs spent pursuing her CPA claims.

Bain cannot recover for fees, costs, or time spent in pursuing her CPA claims. The CPA requires evidence of an actual injury, distinct from attorneys' fees incurred pursuing a lawsuit. Accordingly, while investigation expenses "and other costs resulting from a deceptive business practice" can be an injury, the cost of "consulting an attorney to institute a CPA claim" is not an injury. *See Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 62 (the cost of consulting an attorney to institute a CPA claim is "insufficient to

show injury to business or property."); see also Demopolis v. Galvin, 57 Wn. App. 47, 54 (1990).

In *Demopolis*, the Court of Appeals held that a plaintiff who borrowed money at a high interest rate failed to meet the CPA's injury requirement, even though the underlying loan agreement was allegedly usurious, because the plaintiff had not actually paid any usurious interest and so had suffered no injury. This Court cited *Demopolis* with approval when it observed that the cost of consulting an attorney to institute a CPA claim is "insufficient to show injury to business or property." *Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 62.

Bain admits that after her default she expended no resources investigating MERS's role, other than hiring a lawyer to file a lawsuit to stop the foreclosure initiated by other defendants. CP 156-57. Bain did not incur those costs as a result of any act or omission of MERS because nothing MERS did caused Bain to bring this suit. CP 155-57, 201-02, 241. Bain had the power to cure her default when it first occurred but chose not to in hopes of forcing her lender to accept less than it was owed. CP 201-02. Bain made a conscious decision not to cure her default so she could "fix the loan" through litigation. CP 155-57. Bain was not injured by paying any fees or costs associated with the foreclosure itself. CP 192, 230-31. Bain did not pay those fees or charges or make any other payments on her loan. CP 192, 230-31.

# 3. The foreclosure was not "accelerated" because it complied with Washington's Deed of Trust Act.

Even if MERS had participated in the foreclosure—and it did not—the foreclosure was not improperly accelerated at all, let alone as a result of something MERS did. Washington's legislature intended for non-judicial foreclosures to be quick and efficient. *See Patrick v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 196 Wn. App. 398, 405 (2016), *review den.* 187 Wn.2d 1022 (2017). As the Court of Appeals noted,

Under RCW 61.24.030(8), the trustee must transmit written notice of default to the grantor by mail and by posting or serving the notice at least 30 days before notice of sale is recorded. The trustee must record the notice of sale at least 90 days before the foreclosure sale.

Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp Inc., 2018 WL 2018553, at \*3 n.25 (Wn. App. 2018).

The foreclosure met the deadlines set by the Deed of Trust Act. Bain defaulted in May 2008. CP 150, 283-86. IndyMac (acting through RTS) issued a notice of default on August 26, 2008. CP 277-81. RTS recorded a notice of sale on September 25, 2008—exactly 30 days after the notice of default. CP 283-86. RTS scheduled the sale for December 26, 2008, 92 days later. CP 283-86. The foreclosure would have proceeded on that schedule regardless of MERS. CP 160, 283-86, 338-43, 345-60. And as Bain admits (Bain Pet. at 6), the MERS assignment had no bearing on IndyMac or Deutsche Bank's right to foreclose. *See also In re Allen*, 472 B.R. 559, 569 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2012) ("an assignment of the DOT is not relevant because under Washington law, the security for an obligation follows the debt.").

Even had Bain received more time, it would not have made a difference. Bain admitted she knew she needed to discuss her default with IndyMac. CP 148-49. She testified she contacted IndyMac once about her loan before it gave notice of her default, but she did not try to contact anyone thereafter. CP 153:22-154:14. Bain had almost three months to cure her default before IndyMac and RTS commenced foreclosure.

Notably, she does not provide any facts (or even argument) as to what a "slower" foreclosure looks like, or why this Court should change the deadlines set by the legislature in the Deed of Trust Act.

## V. CONCLUSION AND REQUEST FOR COSTS

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Bain's petition for review. The Court should award also MERS its costs in connection with Bain's petition for review under RAP 18.1(j).